

Shared Parental Leave and Pay Statutory Scheme

Formally adopted by the Trustees of:-	West Norfolk Academies Trust	
On:-	November 2024	
Chair of Trustees:-	Mr Livesey	
Last updated:-	November 2024	
Next review date :-	November 2027	
Consulted with recognised trade unions on 5 March 2025		

Contents

1.	Introduction and Scope	3
2.	Equalities and Support	3
3.	Entitlement	4
4.	Eligibility	4-5
5.	Notifications	6-8
6.	Leave Notifications	8-9
7.	Shared Parental Leave In Touch Days (SPLIT Days)	9
8.	When the Child is Born Early	9-10
9.	Entitlement if a Parent of Child Dies	10
10.	Returning to Work after SPL	10
11.	Contractual Status Whilst on Shared Parental Leave	10
12.	Annual Leave Whilst on Shared Parental Leave	10
13.	Pension Contributions	10-11
14.	Sickness During Shared Parental Leave	11
15.	Redundancy During Shared Parental Leave	11
16.	More Than One Job	11
17.	Protection from Detriment and Unfair Dismissal	11
18.	Abuse of the Shared Parental Leave Scheme	11
19.	Data Protection	11

We, the Trustees of West Norfolk Academies Trust, have adopted this scheme.

1. Introduction and Scope

- 1.1 The purpose of this scheme is to outline the shared parental leave and pay (SPL&P) statutory provision (set out as regulations contained in the Children's and Families Act 2014). Shared parental leave and pay is one part of the family friendly provisions available to employees. The regulations are complex but have been designed to give parents the flexibility to choose how they share the care of their child in the first year after birth.
- 1.2 Governing boards and trusts must comply with the statutory shared parental leave and pay scheme. All governing boards must comply with the nationally agreed schemes and all trusts, other than those who have formally moved away from the Green Book provisions, must also follow the national schemes. All governing boards must follow locally agreed provisions.
- 1.3 The Headteacher will ensure that employees are made aware of the provisions of this scheme and that they are applied in a consistent manner.
- 1.4 A Shared parental leave process flowchart G219a is available on the West Norfolk Academies Trust website to help employees and Headteachers understand the process.
- 1.5 Shared parental leave (SPL) means that an eligible primary parent can choose to bring their maternity or adoption leave to an end early and convert the balance of that leave into a period of shared parental leave. This can then be taken by either parent, as long as they meet the eligibility criteria. Both parents can take the leave at the same time or in succession.

2. Equalities and Support

- 2.1 The Headteacher will ensure that all reasonable adjustments or supportive measures are considered to allow equality of access and opportunity regardless of age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual orientation.
- 2.2 Through the implementation of this policy, the Trustees of WNAT will be mindful of their obligation to seek to maintain and protect the mental health and wellbeing of all employees as far as is reasonably practicable.
- 2.3 According to ACAS it is estimated one in seven people are neurodivergent, meaning that the brain functions, learns and processes information uniquely. Where an employee discloses neurodiversity, the Trust understands the employee may require extra support in relation to the application of this policy. Where reasonable adjustments are necessary and can be accommodated, the Headteacher will support these.

3. Entitlement

Leave

- 3.1 Eligible employees can share up to 50 weeks¹ of the 52 weeks leave available to the primary parent during maternity/adoption leave as shared parental leave. The entitlement to SPL will be minus any maternity or adoption leave already taken (excluding the compulsory two weeks detailed in footnote one below).
- 3.2 The 50 weeks leave and pay period runs from the end of the compulsory maternity leave or the end of the first two weeks of adoption leave, regardless of which partner is taking the leave. e.g., if the secondary parent starts their first shared parental leave period at week 26 of the 50-week entitlement, this is classed as week 26, not week one.
- 3.3 If both parents are taking leave at the same time, then the amount of leave, they are entitled to is reduced by the number of weeks that both parents have taken. e.g., if both parents take four weeks of shared parental leave together this will count as eight weeks from their total of 50 weeks (less any maternity/adoption/shared parental leave already taken).
- 3.4 A parent who takes SPL before they have taken paternity leave (where eligible) will lose their entitlement to paternity leave.
- 3.5 Employees who meet the eligibility criteria but have partners who do not qualify in their own right will still be able to opt into shared parental leave to give them more flexibility around the dates they take their leave. See the eligibility section for more details.

Pay

3.6 Eligible employees can share up to 37 weeks of the 39 weeks' pay available to the primary parent during maternity/adoption leave as shared parental pay. The 37-week entitlement will be minus any maternity or adoption pay already received. This is paid at the lower rate of statutory maternity pay (SMP) known as statutory shared parental pay (ShPP) or 90% of the employee's average weekly earnings, whichever is lower. Current rates for SMP/ShPP can be found on gov.uk. NB. SPL can be requested as either paid or unpaid and there is no need for paid SPL to be taken before unpaid SPL.

4. Eligibility

4.1 Leave

To qualify the employee must meet the criteria below:

Primary parent	Secondary parent
Share care of child with partner	Share care of child with partner
Be eligible for maternity leave or adoption leave	Primary parent must be eligible for maternity or adoption leave or pay or maternity allowance
Have stopped maternity or adoption leave or returned to work	Primary parent must have stopped maternity or adoption leave and/or pay or maternity allowance or returned to work

¹ Following the birth, the birth parent must take a minimum of two weeks maternity leave - compulsory maternity leave. A primary adoptive parent is also required to take two weeks of adoption leave before accessing SPL but this does not have to be after the child is placed for adoption. Adoption leave and pay can start 14 days before the child is placed for adoption).

Continuity of Employment Test			
Have been employed continuously by current employer, for 26 weeks at the end of the 15 th week before expected week of childbirth (EWC)/matching date if adopting (known as the 'relevant week')	Have been employed continuously, by current employer, for 26 weeks at the end of the 15 th week before EWC/matching date if adopting (known as the 'relevant week')		
Be employed by the same employer and still be employed the week before any period of SPL.	Be employed by the same employer and still be employed the week before any period of SPL.		
Primary parent	Secondary parent		
	Secondary parent d Earnings Test		
Employment an Have a partner who has, during 66 weeks	d Earnings Test Have a partner who has, during 66 weeks		

4.2 **Pay**

To qualify the employee must meet the criteria below:

Please note: Sometimes only one parent will be eligible for SPL or ShPP. For example, a self-employed parent will not be entitled to SPL but they may still pass the employment and earnings test so their partner, if they are an employee, may still qualify.

Primary parent	Secondary parent
Share care of child with partner	Shared care of child with partner
Pass the continuity of employment test (above) and their partner must pass the employment and earnings test (above)	Pass the continuity of employment test and their partner must pass the employment and earnings test (above)
Be eligible for statutory maternity pay or maternity allowance or statutory adoption pay	Partner must be eligible for statutory maternity pay, maternity allowance or adoption pay.
Have stopped maternity or adoption pay or returned to work	Partner must have stopped maternity or adoption pay or returned to work
Intend to care for the child during each week shared parental pay is paid.	Intend to care for the child during each week shared parental pay is paid.
Earned average salary of the lower earnings limit for the 8 weeks prior to the 15 th week of EWC/ relevant week. You can view the lower earnings limit on gov.uk	Earned average salary of the lower earnings limit for the 8 weeks prior to the 15th week of EWC/ relevant week. You can view the lower earnings limit on gov.uk

5. Notifications

Where an employee is eligible and wants to take SPL, they must give the school a number of notices to enable them to take SPL. These are:

- notice that they (or their partner) will bring their maternity or adoption leave and pay (where eligible) to an end early (paragraph 5.1).
- notice of entitlement and intention to take shared parental leave and pay (where eligible) (paragraph 5.2).
- intended dates of SPL (paragraph 5.2).
- leave notification (section 6).

5.1 Stopping maternity/adoption leave and pay

The entitlement to SPL is created by the primary parent ending their maternity/adoption leave and pay (where eligible) before they have taken the full entitlement. The remaining period then becomes SPL. The primary parent can do this in two ways:

- Give notice to return to work early. For teaching and support staff, under national conditions of service, this is 21 days' notice. Please see the relevant maternity Policy for further information.
- Serve the school with a curtailment notice. The Shared parental leave notification of entitlement and intention Primary parent form F219 on the Trust website can be used, stating the date on which they want their statutory maternity or adoption leave and pay (where eligible) to end. The curtailment notice will come into effect after eight weeks or at the date of chosen curtailment if later. The date chosen for the end of the maternity or adoption leave and pay must:
 - not be before the end of the two week compulsory maternity leave period following the birth of the child,
 - o be at least eight weeks after the date the notice is given to the employer,
 - be at least one week before the date the maternity/adoption leave would otherwise have ended.

If the primary parent decides to return to work before the date at which they curtail their maternity, leave this will not affect the number of weeks of SPL and pay to which they are entitled.

If the primary parent returns to work early from maternity/adoption leave and opts into SPL at a later date they will need to curtail their maternity/adoption pay period (as this will still be running) to access SPL.

The primary parent can give notice to end their maternity leave at a future date to allow the secondary parent to take shared parental leave whilst the primary parent is still on maternity/adoption leave.

Please note: Once a curtailment notice has been given, the decision to end maternity/adoption leave and pay early can only be revoked if:

- the planned end dates haven't already passed,
- the primary parent hasn't already returned to work.

AND one of the following must apply:

- if during the eight weeks notice period either parent stops being eligible for shared parental leave and/or pay,
- the employee's partner has died,
- if the notice was given before the birth, and the primary parent revokes their maternity leave curtailment notice in the six weeks following the birth. (This is not an option for adopters).

If the primary parent revokes their notice to end maternity/adoption leave early, they will remain on maternity/adoption leave. Their entitlement to maternity/adoption leave is restored to a total of 52 weeks, even if their partner has already taken SPL.

If the primary parent revokes the curtailment notice in the six weeks following birth and the partner is on SPL during that time, the partner may be required to continue on SPL, until the eight weeks' notice has passed or the period of SPL has come to an end, whichever is the earlier. However, this will be unpaid. Managers must ensure payroll are notified.

If a primary parent has revoked their notice to end maternity leave within six weeks of the birth, they will be able to opt back into SPL at a later date, as long as it is with the same partner and they follow the process. Any SPL&P already taken will be deducted from the total entitlement.

An employee must inform their Manger if they wish to revoke their maternity/adoption leave. Their manager must then inform payroll, via email, to ensure the employee is paid correctly.

5.2 Notification of entitlement and leave dates

Employees wanting to take SPL must give written notice of their entitlement and intention to take shared parental leave (or a declaration that the other parent has given notice to their employer if they are not eligible for SPL themselves) and their intended leave dates (these are not yet binding). 'Shared parental leave - notification of entitlement and intention – Primary parent form F219' or 'Shared parental leave - notice of entitlement and intention – Secondary parent form F219a' can be used, depending on who you are. NB. Eight weeks' notice must be provided before the first period of leave begins. These forms (F219 and F219a) serve to provide intention and prove entitlement but do not count as a formal leave request. A formal leave request is made via the Leave and variation to leave request form F219b.

5.2.1 It is good practice for the employee and the Line Manager/Headteacher to have an informal discussion at this stage to be clear of expectations and intentions. This will help the Line Manager/Headteacher to get an idea of the type and pattern of leave an employee may want to take, giving them time to consider how to best accommodate the employee's intended leave. The Headteacher can also help the employee to understand what patterns of discontinuous leave will most likely be agreed to.

Please note: If the employee ceases to become eligible for shared parental leave and/or pay, they must immediately notify the Headteacher. If the employee becomes eligible again, they will have to resubmit their entitlement form.

Where there is less than 8 weeks before a period of SPL and an employee is no longer eligible for SPL (and pay where applicable), the school can still require them to take or continue taking SPL. This must end when:

- the manager can accommodate the employee's return to work OR
- the period of SPL was due to end anyway OR
- 8 weeks after the manager was informed of the change in circumstances whichever is earlier.
- 5.2.2 Once the notification has been received, the Headteacher can ask the employee for a copy of the child's birth certificate or a matching certificate for a couple who are adopting (or if the child is not yet born the birth certificate should be provided as soon as is reasonably possible) and the name and address of the employee's partner's employer. The Headteacher has 14 days, from the date they are notified of the entitlement to take the leave, in which to do this. The Headteacher

can then decide to write to the partner's employer asking for verification of their employment. This is not a legal requirement and whatever decision is made will need to be applied consistently. NB. the partner is obliged to provide this information (if asked), within 14 days of being asked. The partner's employer is not obliged to respond if the school contacts them.

6. Leave Notifications

A leave notification is defined as a request for a period of leave or a request to change an already booked period of leave (leave variation notice). A leave notification can be for a continuous or discontinuous block and employees are entitled to request a maximum of three blocks of leave or variations to blocks of leave. Further requests can be agreed by the Headteacher but the Headteacher is not obliged to do this by law. Any notifications for leave or variations to leave require the employee to give the school at least eight weeks' notice and once given are binding, unless a leave variation notice is given. Leave must be taken in multiples of complete weeks and the minimum period of shared parental leave is one week. Shared parental leave - Leave and variation to leave request form F219b on the Trust website can be used. It is advisable for an employee to complete one F219b form per leave request or leave variation request. This helps to avoid any confusion around whether the employee's request is a continuous or discontinuous request (see below for a definition of these) and how many leave requests they have made in total, ensuring they don't exceed the three request entitlement.

A request for leave is discounted as one of the three allowed if:

- the request is given as a variation of leave if the child is born early or later than expected,
- given in response to a request from the Headteacher to vary the leave request submitted,
- the employee withdraws their request on or before the 15th day of the original request made.

6.1 Continuous and discontinuous blocks of leave

Employees can request to take the leave in continuous or discontinuous blocks².

- 6.1.1 The Headteacher must by law agree to a request from an employee for a continuous block of leave. The Headteacher could propose an alternative pattern of leave but there is no legal requirement for the employee to agree. If the employee does not agree they must be allowed to take the continuous block of leave as they originally requested.
- 6.1.2 If a discontinuous leave request is received the Headteacher can:
 - accept the request,
 - refuse the request but propose a new pattern of leave,
 - refuse the request.

The Headteacher has the right to turn down a request for discontinuous blocks of leave. The request should be carefully considered and if the only option is to refuse the request this should be for valid business reasons. If there is no clear reason for the refusal a potential discrimination claim e.g., sex discrimination could be brought against the school.

²A continuous block is one request for an uninterrupted block of leave e.g., 10 weeks off work on SPL and then return to work. A discontinuous block is one request for separate blocks of SPL e.g., 2 weeks on SPL, 2 weeks at work, 3 weeks on SPL etc. ACAS also provide some good examples of what is a continuous leave request and what is a discontinuous leave request <a href="https://www.acas.org.uk/shared-parental-leave-and-pay/taking-shared-pay-and-pay/taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-shared-pay-and-pay-taking-sha

Please note: Employees can withdraw a discontinuous leave request up to the 15th day from the notification, as long as it has not already been agreed. This provision is essential when two parents might be applying for a complementary period of leave at the same time and one may be refused. *Employees are not entitled to withdraw a continuous leave request but may do so if the Headteacher agrees.*

Please note: Default provisions

If the Headteacher refuses the request the employee has several options:

- Within 15 days of the original notification the employee can withdraw their request. This would not count towards one of their three leave requests.
- If the employee does not withdraw their request the discontinuous leave notification automatically defaults to a period of continuous leave which the employee can choose will either:
 - start on the day of the original discontinuous leave notification (default position) or;
 - start on a new date. The employee has 19 days from the original notification to specify a date. This cannot start sooner than eight weeks from the date the original notification was given. If no date is chosen the default position above applies.
- Change the original pattern of leave to a period mutually agreed by both parties. This does not count as a further leave notification.

7. Shared Parental Leave in Touch Days (SPLIT days)

7.1 Sharing parental leave in touch days (SPLIT) days are a statutory entitlement where the individual may work for up to 20 days during their shared parental leave without the loss of statutory shared parental payments for that week, or their shared parental leave being terminated.

During SPL an employee and the school will be able to agree up to 20 SPLIT days. There is no obligation on the school to offer these days or for an employee to agree to them. SPLIT days do not have to be consecutive and can be used in situations where both parties feel it would be beneficial for the employee to attend a work-related activity e.g., work activities, training, INSET day or to work part of a week to help the employee return to work gradually. These 20 SPLIT days are in addition to the ten KIT days the primary parent is entitled to when they are on maternity leave. Working for part of a day will count as one of the 20 SPLIT days.

- 7.2 Employees who attend a SPLIT day will claim for the actual hours that they have worked on each KIT day taken, to a maximum of the employee's normal pay for a day's work. KIT day payments will be paid at the employee's normal hourly rate. Statutory shared parental pay is not affected. Completion of a Shared parental leave in touch (SPLIT) days form F219c required.
- 7.3 Reasonable contact with the employee whilst they are on SPL is advised. It will help to keep the employee up to date on changes in the workplace and the Headteacher on changes to personal circumstances that can help ease the employee's return to work. The school has legal obligations to the employee while they are away from work and therefore should keep the employee informed about everyday issues e.g., staffing changes or job opportunities.

8. When the Child is Born Early

8.1 Where an employee has given notice to book a period of SPL to start within 8 weeks of the child's expected week of birth and the child is born early, the parent may take the leave and pay that they have booked after the actual birth if they wish. They need to give the Headteacher a notice to vary the shared parental leave and pay that they

- originally applied for as soon as practicable following the birth. Unlike other variation notices, this would not count as one of the employee's three notifications.
- 8.2 This arrangement does not apply to SPL that was booked for a period starting after 8 weeks after the birth; or to any change in the number of weeks of leave or pay booked. Any changes to such leave or pay would be subject to the notice variation process.

9. Entitlement if a Parent of Child Dies

9.1 In the event of the child or one of the parents dying, the employee or school should contact the HR Provider for advice.

10. Returning to Work After SPL

- 10.1 Employees are entitled to return to the job they left if they have taken 26 weeks or less (in aggregate) shared parental leave and maternity/adoption leave. If they have taken more than this, they are entitled to return to the job they left or if not reasonably practicable, they are entitled to return to a suitable alternative role. Either way, employees are entitled to return on terms and conditions no less favourable than those that would have applied to the job they had if they had not been absent.
- 10.2 The Headteacher will need to inform the payroll when an employee's shared parental leave ends for good (i.e., not each time they return from a period of SPL), even if they are not returning to work straight away e.g., due to being on sick leave or annual leave. Payroll will then notify NCC by email to the following address:

Academies should email hrnccexternals@norfolk.gov.uk

Please include the date of return from shared parental leave and if there are any changes e.g., changes to hours

10.3 Returning to work on a part time basis after SPL

The employee may wish to return to work part time or adjust their working hours on their return from shared parental leave. There is no automatic right to allow this but the employee does have the right to request it. Please see the flexible working policy for more information on this.

11. Contractual Status Whilst on Shared Parental Leave

11.1 An employee's contractual benefits and status will mirror those of an employee taking maternity or adoption leave.

12. Annual Leave Whilst on Shared Parental Leave

12.1 Employees continue to accrue their statutory and contractual holiday entitlement during shared parental leave.

13. Pension Contributions

13.1 Local Government Pension Scheme members: contributions will be deducted on all payments made to the employee. Pensionable pay, for calculating LGPS pensions, during periods of paid shared parental leave is assumed to be equal to average pay before the leave commenced. During unpaid shared parental leave, the employee will have the option of making up the "lost" pension contributions. An option form will be sent to employees if they are going to be in a period of unpaid shared parental leave.

13.2 Teachers' Pension scheme members: contributions will be payable on payments made to the employee in the form of shared parental pay (ShPP). Service will be counted as reckonable for pension purposes during any paid employment. Service will not count for pension during unpaid adoption/maternity leave. The employee should contact Teachers' Pensions direct if they wish to make voluntary contributions during their period of unpaid shared parental leave or if they require guidance regarding this matter.

14. Sickness During Shared Parental Leave

14.1 If an employee is sick during shared parental leave and it prevents them from being able to look after their child, their entitlement to shared parental leave and/or pay will cease and they should advise their Headteacher. The Headteacher will advise the payroll provider as normal sickness entitlements will apply, where eligible. This will only be the case where the employee is genuinely not able to take care of their child e.g., hospitalisation.

15. Redundancy During Shared Parental Leave

15.1 Special considerations apply to redundancy during shared parental leave, this is detailed in the Staffing adjustment policy and procedure (P318 for schools and P318a for MATs).

16. More Than One Job

16.1 If a primary parent has more than one job (with two or more different employers) they must stop their maternity/adoption leave and pay in both jobs to enable them and/or their partner to access shared parental leave. They cannot claim maternity leave/pay in one job and shared parental leave/pay in the other. The maximum amount of shared parental leave/pay available to them is calculated on the latest date they returned to work (i.e., whichever job they returned to last) or the latest date they stopped their maternity/adoption leave/pay.

17. Protection from detriment and unfair dismissal

- 17.1 An employee is protected from suffering a detriment due to the fact that:
 - They took, sought to take, or made use of the benefits for SPL,
 - The employer believed that the employee was likely to take SPL,
 - The employee undertook, considered undertaking or refused to undertake a SPLIT day.

18. Abuse of the shared parental leave scheme

18.1 Any abuse, including fraudulently claiming leave and/or pay, of the shared parental leave scheme will be treated as misconduct in accordance with the disciplinary policy.

19. Data Protection

Personal data collected and processed for the purpose of this scheme will be handled in accordance with the data protection policy and applicable statutory obligations. Any personal data collected is held securely and accessed by, and disclosed to, individuals only for the purposes of employee management or to comply with statutory reporting obligations. Inappropriate access to, or disclosure of, employee data constitutes a data breach and should be reported without delay, in accordance with the data protection policy. It may also constitute a disciplinary offence in which case it would be dealt with under the disciplinary policy and procedure.